

Sustainability Research Institute

SCHOOL OF EARTH AND ENVIRONMENT







The Centre for Climate Change Economics and Policy (CCCEP) was established by the University of Leeds and the London School of Economics and Political Science in 2008 to advance public and private action on climate change through innovative, rigorous research. The Centre is funded by the UK Economic and Social Research Council and has five interlinked research programmes:

- 1. Developing climate science and economics
- 2. Climate change governance for a new global deal
- 3. Adaptation to climate change and human development
- 4. Governments, markets and climate change mitigation
- 5. The Munich Re Programme Evaluating the economics of climate risks and opportunities in the insurance sector

More information about the Centre for Climate Change Economics and Policy can be found at: http://www.cccep.ac.uk.

The Sustainability Research Institute (SRI) is a dedicated team of over 20 researchers working on different aspects of sustainability at the University of Leeds. Adapting to environmental change and governance for sustainability are the Institute's overarching themes. SRI research explores these in interdisciplinary ways, drawing on geography, ecology, sociology, politics, planning, economics and management. Our specialist areas are: sustainable development and environmental change; environmental policy, planning and governance; ecological and environmental economics; business, environment and corporate responsibility; sustainable production and consumption.

More information about the Sustainability Research Institute can be found at: http://www.see.leeds.ac.uk/sri.

This working paper is intended to stimulate discussion within the research community and among users of research, and its content may have been submitted for publication in academic journals. It has been reviewed by at least one internal referee before publication. The views expressed in this paper represent those of the author(s) and do not necessarily represent those of the host institutions or funders.

Understanding the limits of voluntary carbon reporting and the potential of mandatory reporting

© R. Sullivan and A. Gouldson 2012

Email: rory@rorysullivan.org

Contents

Contents	3
Abstract	4
About the Authors	5
1 Setting the scene	7
2 What information do stakeholders want?	7
3 The case of the UK supermarket sector	8
3.1 Why Focus on UK Supermarkets?	8
3.2 Current Reporting Practice in the Supermarket Sector	Э
4 What can the available data tell us?	10
5 Beyond voluntarism	12
5.1 Design Considerations	13
5.2 Will Mandatory Reporting Work?	15
References	17

Abstract

Information can play a hugely important role in the governance of corporate behaviour. The provision of reliable information on the financial performance of firms underpins the operation of financial markets, and the provision of information on the environmental performance of firms has enabled both 'governance from the inside' (through corporations better understanding and managing their own activities), and 'governance from the outside' (through opening up areas of private activity to wider public scrutiny).

This briefing considers the extent to which the voluntary provision of information on corporate greenhouse gas emissions enables the emergence of new forms of governance. Using the case of the UK supermarket sector, this briefing argues that, while voluntary reporting has provided important benefits, current disclosures limit stakeholders' ability to assess corporate climate change performance, to compare companies and, in turn, to effectively influence corporate performance.

The recent announcement by the UK government that it intends to introduce mandatory reporting requirements for large companies signals a step change in the debate. If well designed and effectively implemented, mandatory carbon reporting has a potentially valuable role to play in facilitating information-based governance through, at least partially, addressing the limitations in the information being provided by companies, and at a relatively modest cost to companies and government. However, as this briefing explains, mandatory reporting is not a panacea and will not address all of the issues around data consistency and comparability. The consequence is that stakeholders will need to continue to invest time and resources in understanding and interpreting data as an essential part of delivering effective governance from the outside.

About the Authors

Dr Rory Sullivan is an internationally recognised expert on responsible investment. He is a Senior Research Fellow at the University of Leeds and Chair of the Ethix SRI Advisers Advisory Council. He was previously Head of Responsible Investment at Insight Investment, where he established Insight as one of the world's leading responsible investment management for the manner in which it integrated environmental, social and governance (ESG) issues into its investment process and the quality of its engagement with companies on these issues. He has written seven books and many papers, reports and articles on investment, climate change, human rights and development issues. His books include Valuing Corporate Responsibility: How Do Investors Really Use Corporate Responsibility Information? (Greenleaf, 2011), and the edited collection Corporate Responses to Climate Change (Greenleaf, 2008).

Professor Andy Gouldson is Director of the Centre for Climate Change Economics and Policy at the University of Leeds. His work focuses on the influence of different forms of policy and governance on the relationship between the environment and the economy, and on the factors that are shaping the transition to a low carbon economy. Most recently, he has worked on the economics of low carbon cities through a series of city scale mini-Stern reviews. This work has led to the adoption of carbon reduction strategies in various contexts, and it is part of a wider debate on stimulating investment in the low carbon economy.

The Non-State Actors and the Low Carbon Economy project

The material presented in this article is based on information gathered as part of a wider project, Non-State Actors and the Low Carbon Economy, being run by the ESRC Centre for Climate Change Economics and Policy (a joint initiative between the University of Leeds and the London School of Economics). The project, which will run from 2010 to 2013, examines how corporate climate change performance has been influenced by non-state actors such as environmental non-governmental organisations (NGOs), investors, employees and customers, and the extent to which these various actors have moved companies beyond the actions that would be

justified in cost-benefit terms. A fuller description can be found at: http://www.cccep.ac.uk/Research/Programmes/climate-changegovernance/project2b-corporations-low-carbon-economy.aspx

1 Setting the scene

Information can play a hugely important role in the governance of corporate behaviour. The provision of reliable information on the financial performance of firms underpins the operation of financial markets, and the provision of information on the environmental performance of firms has been a significant factor shaping their behaviour and performance (Gouldson, 2004; Hamilton, 2005; Mol, 2011). The collation and provision of reliable information enables both 'governance from the inside' (through enabling corporations to better understand and manage their own activities), and 'governance from the outside' (through opening up areas of private activity to wider public scrutiny).

This briefing considers the extent to which the voluntary provision of information on corporate performance on greenhouse gas emissions enables the emergence of new forms of governance. It also considers whether mandatory carbon reporting is needed if the potential of information-based governance is to be realised.

We begin by providing a general overview of the types of information stakeholders are interested in and of this information may be used. Using the case of the UK supermarket sector, we then considers whether the information provided by companies enables these requirements to be met. We conclude by offering some general reflections on whether there is a need to move beyond voluntary reporting towards some form of mandatory reporting, and by offering some comments on the recent announcement by the UK government that large companies will be required to report on their greenhouse gas emissions from 2013.

2 What information do stakeholders want?

Any discussion of information-based governance must begin by acknowledging that companies need to communicate with and provide information to a wide range of stakeholders. Inevitably, these stakeholders will have quite different interests, and will seek to use the information provided by companies in a range of ways. For example, in relation to greenhouse gas emissions, they may want to (adapted from Sullivan, 2011: 14-15):

- Answer yes/no questions such as whether the company is complying with its climate change commitments or meeting its own objectives and targets (e.g. on emissions reductions).
- Assessing companies relative to their sector peers.
- Assessing companies' quality of management (on climate change specifically or on environmental and social issues more generally).
- Assessing the financial or other implications of climate change for the business (e.g. the costs of complying with regulation, the costs of addressing the physical impacts of climate change, the opportunities presented by new regulations).
- Assessing the performance of a specific company in the context of wider social or environmental impacts. For example, stakeholders may be interested in how much a particular company contributes to national or global greenhouse gas emissions.

This divergence of interests influences the decisions that companies make about reporting – should they report or not, what should the scope of their reporting be, what information should they provide, how much resource should they dedicate to reporting. These decisions, in turn, impact on the ability of stakeholders to hold companies to account for their performance; that is, the effectiveness of 'governance from the outside' is critically dependent on the information provided by companies.

3 The case of the UK supermarket sector

3.1 Why Focus on UK Supermarkets?

We focus on the UK supermarket sector for two reasons. The first is the potential significance of the sector's carbon footprint. It is estimated that the major supermarkets contribute – through the direct emissions from their own operations and the emissions from their electricity consumption – approximately 1% of the UK's total greenhouse gas emissions and that the emissions from the sector's value and supply chains are an order of magnitude higher (Sustainable Development Commission (SDC), 2008: 40). The second is that the sector is widely seen as a leader for the quality of its environmental and social reporting and, in particular, there is a significant amount of information available on greenhouse gas emissions from the sector. This latter point makes the sector a particularly relevant case-study, as it

allows us to explore whether the information being provided is sufficient to facilitate effective governance from the outside.

3.2 Current Reporting Practice in the Supermarket Sector¹

Of the nine major supermarket groups in the UK (ALDI, ASDA, Co-operative Group, LIDL, Marks and Spencer, Morrisons, Sainsbury's, Tesco and Waitrose), seven publish a corporate responsibility report or equivalent (e.g. a substantive section on environmental performance on their websites), with five (the exceptions are Waitrose and The Co-Operative Group) also reporting to the Carbon Disclosure Project². The two that do not report are ALDI and LIDL.

Of the seven that report, all have a reasonably long track record of corporate responsibility (or, previously, environmental) reporting. For example, Sainsbury's first reported in 1998 and Waitrose, Tesco and Marks and Spencer first reported in the early 2000s. In their most recent corporate responsibility reports, all seven companies provide at least four and typically five years of trend data on greenhouse gas emissions.

All seven companies provide an estimate of their total greenhouse gas emissions, and provide information on emissions from their own operations and the emissions associated with their electricity use. However, beyond their own operations there is a wide divergence in what is reported. For example, six provide information on business travel (although Wal-Mart only provides this information for its US operations), three provide some information on waste disposal-related emissions and one on third party contract distribution. Only Tesco and Marks and Spencer provide information on emissions from their supply chains and value chains. Tesco has estimated that the carbon footprint of its UK supply chain is about ten times its direct carbon footprint in the UK (Tesco 2010: 14) and Marks and Spencer has

¹ A fuller evaluation of the disclosures provided by the UK supermarket sector is provided in Sullivan and Gouldson (2012). It is relevant to note that the issues raised here about companies not reporting and the inconsistencies in the reported information are relevant to most sectors. See, for example, the analysis in Sullivan (2009, 2010) and Sullivan *et al.* (2008).

² The CDP is an investor-backed initiative that, annually, requests information on the risks and opportunities of climate change from the world's largest companies and publishes this information on the CDP's website (see, further, https://www.cdproject.net/en-US/Programmes/Pages/CDP-Investors.aspx, last viewed 10 October 2011).

estimated that the emissions from the use and disposal of its products and services, and from its supply chain were approximately ten times its operational (including emissions associated with electricity purchase) emissions³.

There is limited consistency on the activity and other information provided by companies to put their emissions into context. For example, only four provide information on their total energy consumption, three on the amount of renewable energy that they purchase and two on transport-related mileage. This supplementary information is particularly important to stakeholders seeking to understand how the company is managing its greenhouse gas emissions and the effectiveness of its actions in this regard. For example, if a company reports a reduction in its greenhouse gas emissions from energy use, the first question that needs to be answered is whether the reported change is attributable to an actual reduction in energy use, to fuel shifting (towards lower carbon intensity fuels), to changes in the business (e.g. outsourcing certain activities), to changes in calculation methodologies (e.g. new emission factors), to changes in the scope of reporting or to some combination of these factors.

4 What can the available data tell us?

Despite the limitations in the data being provided, the climate change-related information provided by companies can be used in a number of different ways.

First, the fact that a company has a climate change policy and/or that it reports on its performance can be used to draw some conclusions about the quality of a company's quality of management of climate change-related risks and opportunities. In relation to policies, in Western multinationals, the adoption (by the Board) of a policy on a specific issue is generally seen as an essential starting point for the effective management of the issue. Clearly, the existence of a policy does not guarantee that the policy will be effectively implemented. However, the converse is perhaps even more important. That is, the absence of a policy suggests that the issue in question (e.g. climate change) is not a priority for the organisation (Lydenberg, 2010: 17; Sullivan 2009, 2010). A similar argument could be made in

³ See, for example, Marks and Spencer's response to the 2008 Carbon Disclosure Project (Note 2).

relation to reporting; while the fact that a company reports is not, in and of itself, an indication of the quality of a company's management of an issue, the lack of reporting suggests that climate change is not on the corporate agenda or that it is not seen as a priority for management attention.

Second, the data being reported do allow an assessment to be made of trends in performance within individual companies. For those companies in the supermarket sector that have reported, most provide five or more years of historic data. This allows both the direction of travel and performance against each company's own objectives to be evaluated. This, in turn, allows an assessment to be made of the quality of the company's implementation of its climate change strategy and of the outcomes achieved, although – as noted above – such assessments are complicated by the lack of consistency in the supplementary information provided by companies.

Third, with specific reference to the supermarket sector, the available data on scope 1 and 2 emissions (i.e. those emissions that relate to the company's own activities and operations, and to the emissions related to electricity consumption) allow a broad assessment to be made of the environmental significance of these emissions; as indicated above, scope 1 and 2 emissions from the supermarket sector represent approximately 1% of the UK's total greenhouse gas emissions. Similarly, an assessment can be made of the financial significance of these emissions, e.g. through assessing current and future carbon prices and comparing these to the companies' profits or turnovers (see further Sullivan (2011: 22-58)).

However, there are two notable areas where current disclosures limit stakeholders' ability to assess corporate climate change performance. The first relates to efforts to compare the performance of different companies. While there are broad signs of convergence in reporting, it is extremely difficult to make a robust comparison of performance across the sector, or to develop a robust benchmark (or ranking) of performance. There are various reasons: only seven of the nine companies report, there are variations in the scope of each company's reporting, and there are significant gaps and inconsistencies in the information being reported (Sullivan, 2009, 2010; Sullivan and Gouldson, 2012; Sullivan et al., 2008).

The second is that, while it is possible to draw some conclusions about the scale (magnitude) of direct/operational emissions, it is not possible to have anything like the same confidence in assessing the significance of emissions associated with supply chains and value chains. The reason is that the tools and methodologies for quantifying these emissions remain in their infancy and our research (which has included interviews with most of the major UK retailers as well as some of the large international players) suggests that most have yet to develop a comprehensive inventory of their emissions. This is not intended to suggest that they are not taking action to address these emissions; in fact, many have programmes, albeit of varying degrees of intensity and detail, directed at reducing energy consumption and emissions through the supply chain, and at engaging with their customers to encourage and support them to reduce their greenhouse gas emissions.

5 Beyond voluntarism

These findings suggest that we are close to the limits of what we can expect from voluntary reporting. Given that carbon reporting is well established in the supermarket sector, it is striking that a number of companies still do not report at all and that it remains extremely difficult to compare companies across the sector. This limits the potential for stakeholders to exert influence; that is, the weaknesses in reporting mean that the potential for governance from the outside is significantly compromised.

Recognition of the limits of voluntary reporting opens up a critical question of the role of government. The ability of stakeholders to hold companies to account for their climate change performance is critically dependent on the quality of the information that is available; at present, the data being provided are inconsistent and incomplete. While there are signs of a consistent approach to reporting emerging in the supermarket sector, it is also clear that a voluntary approach alone is unlikely to deliver the level of consistency required to enable stakeholders to properly use the information provided.

The case for mandatory carbon reporting on carbon clearly resonates with wider discussions on the role of information-based governance. Information can be a powerful force for change. But to release its power information needs to be provided in a consistent form. That inevitably requires some intervention from government. However, the costs to government and industry are comparatively modest; government doesn't have to do much other than to mandate reporting in a consistent format to facilitate and strengthen the ability of non-state actors to contribute to the delivery of a critical public interest objective.

As one example, the UK government has recently announced that it intends to introduce mandatory greenhouse gas emissions reporting for all companies listed on the main index of the London Stock Exchange from April 2013⁴. The Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (Defra) will initiate a consultation later in 2012 on draft regulations to implement this commitment. The introduction of mandatory reporting has been welcomed by a range of groups, including the UK Confederation of British Industry (the peak UK business lobby group)⁵ and the Aldersgate Group (an alliance of leaders from business, politics and society that encourages action for a sustainable economy)⁶.

5.1 Design Considerations

In theory, making carbon reporting mandatory should help ensure that all companies report and should also help to address the problems caused by inconsistencies in reporting. However, to be effective, the regulations and associated guidance that will implement and underpin the reporting requirements will need to⁷:

• Specify the reporting boundaries so that all firms define the scope of their reporting in a consistent manner. While acknowledging that there may be challenges in requiring overseas entities to report, it makes most sense that

⁴ See http://www.defra.gov.uk/environment/economy/business-efficiency/reporting/ and http://www.parliament.uk/documents/commons-vote-office/June_2012/20-06-12/3.DEFRA-Companyreporting-greenhouse-gas-emissions-by-quoted-companies.pdf

⁵ http://www.cbi.org.uk/media-centre/press-releases/2012/06/cbi-responds-to-defra-announcementon-mandatory-carbon-reporting/

⁶ http://www.aldersgategroup.org.uk/news/2012

⁷ This builds on the proposals made in CBI (2009) and the authors' previous work analysing the disclosures provided by companies in other mandatory reporting schemes (see, Gouldson and Sullivan (2007); Kolominskas and Sullivan (2004); Sullivan and Gouldson (2007, 2012); Sullivan and Woods (2000)).

reporting is based on financial control (i.e. the consolidated entities that are covered by companies' financial reporting). This will allow greenhouse gas emissions to be related to measures of business activity such as turnover.
Require all companies to report on, as a minimum, their Scope 1 (i.e. emissions from sources owned or controlled by the company, including the generation of electricity, heat or steam, physical or chemical processing, transport in company owned/controlled vehicles, fugitive emissions) and Scope 2 emissions (i.e. emissions from the generation of purchased electricity that is consumed in owned or controlled equipment or operations)⁸.

- Encourage companies to report on Scope 3 emissions (i.e. emissions from other sources not owned or controlled by the company, such as business travel, external distribution, supply chain or the use/disposal of the company's products and services). It should be noted that reporting on Scope 3 emissions is much less well developed than reporting on Scope 1 and 2.
- Require reporting on all greenhouse gases, expressed both in terms of total carbon dioxide equivalent (CO2e) and, where relevant, broken down by greenhouse gas. This should include specification of the conversion factors to be used to convert the different greenhouse gases to CO2e.
- Require companies to provide a clear account of how they have calculated their greenhouse gas emissions, including the assumptions they have made, the activity and other data they have used to produce their emissions and the emission factors they have used to calculate their emissions.

The other point we would like to raise here relates to the scope of the proposed regulations which, for the first two years, will apply only to large quoted companies. The consequence is that many large unquoted companies and many large unquoted organisations (e.g. government agencies, local authorities) that will not be covered by this legislation. In the interests of creating a level playing field for all organisations and, perhaps more importantly, enabling a proper assessment to be made of the performance of all companies, the government should extend the scope of the regulation to all organisations (where the scope could be defined by reference to measures such as total number of employees, turnover, or total electricity consumption).

⁸ For a further description, see WBCSD/WRI (2004: 26-34).

5.2 Will Mandatory Reporting Work?

It is likely that mandatory reporting, if effectively designed and implemented, will address some of the issues that have been identified with voluntary reporting; it should ensure that all companies report and should address at least some of the inconsistencies and other issues that affect current reporting.

However, it is important to recognise that mandatory reporting – even where the calculation methodologies and processes are prescribed in some detail – will not necessarily address all of the issues around data consistency and comparability. Inevitably, as has been seen in other areas where mandatory environmental reporting has been introduced (Gouldson and Sullivan, 2007; Sullivan and Gouldson, 2007), companies will have significant discretion on the scope of reporting, the emission factors that they use, and how they present their data. The consequence is that stakeholders using these data will still need to take care to ensure they interpret the data correctly and appropriately.

The introduction of mandatory reporting may also have the effect of undermining the credibility of those companies that have taken a leadership position through voluntarily reporting on their social and environmental commitments. Quite a few stakeholders (including investors) use the existence of a CSR or equivalent report as a proxy for the quality of social and environmental management (on the grounds that the publication of such a report is some sign that social and environmental issues are on the corporate agenda). However, the reality is that we have moved well beyond the days when the publication of such a report was a clear sign of corporate engagement with the sustainability agenda. Mandatory reporting offers the potential to reinvigorate the debate around leadership and innovation, through forcing us all to look beyond the fact that a report has been produced to looking much more carefully at the substance of that reporting.

References

Gouldson, A. (2004), 'Risk, Regulation and the Right to Know: Exploring the Impacts of Access to Information on the Governance of Environmental Risks in the UK', Sustainable Development, Vol. 12, pp. 136-149.

Gouldson, A. and Sullivan, R. (2007), 'Corporate Environmentalism: Tracing the Links between Policies and Performance Using Corporate Reports and Public Registers', Business Strategy and the Environment, Vol. 16, pp. 1-11.

Hamilton, J. (2005), Regulation through Revelation: The Origin, Politics, and Impacts of the Toxics Release Inventory Program (Cambridge University Press, Cambridge).

Kolominskas, C. and Sullivan, R. (2004), 'Improving Cleaner Production through Pollutant Release and Transfer Register Reporting Processes', Journal of Cleaner Production, Vol. 12, pp. 713-724.

Lydenberg, S. (2010), How to Read a Corporate Social Responsibility Report: A User's Guide (Boston College Centre for Corporate Citizenship, Boston).

Mol, A. (2011), Environmental Reform in the Information Age: The Contours of Informational Governance (Cambridge University Press, Cambridge).

Sullivan, R. (ed.) (2008), Corporate Responses to Climate Change (Greenleaf Publishing, Sheffield).

Sullivan, R. (2009), 'The Management of Greenhouse Gas Emissions in Large European Companies', Corporate Social Responsibility and Environmental Management, Vol. 16, No. 6, pp. 301-309.

Sullivan, R. (2010), 'An Assessment of the Climate Change Policies and Performance of Large European Companies', Climate Policy, Vol. 10, pp. 38-50.

Sullivan, R. (2011), Valuing Corporate Responsibility: How Do Investors Really Use Corporate Responsibility Information? (Greenleaf Publishing, Sheffield).

Sullivan, R., Crossley, R. and Kozak, J. (2008), 'Corporate Greenhouse Gas Emissions Management: The State of Play', in Sullivan, R. (ed.) (2008), Corporate Responses to Climate Change (Greenleaf Publishing, Sheffield, UK), pp. 9-25.

Sullivan, R. and Gouldson, A. (2012) 'Does Voluntary Carbon Reporting Meet Investors' Needs?', Journal of Cleaner Production, . doi: 10.1016/j.jclepro.2012.02.020

Sullivan, R. and Gouldson, A. (2007), 'Pollutant Release and Transfer Registers: Examining the Value of Government-Led Reporting on Corporate Environmental Performance', Corporate Social Responsibility and Environmental Management, Vol. 14, pp. 263-273.

Sullivan, R. and Woods, I. (2000), 'Using Emission Factors to Characterise Heavy Metal Emissions from Sewage Sludge Incinerators in Australia', Atmospheric Environment, Vol. 34, No. 26, pp. 4571-4577.

Sustainable Development Commission (SDC) (2008), Green, Healthy and Fair: A Review of the Government's Role in Supporting Sustainable Supermarket Food (SDC, London).

Tesco (2010), Corporate Responsibility Report 2010 (Tesco, Cheshunt).